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INTRODUCTION 3

ment to industry in the shape of some ninety volumes of
manuseripts in the British Museum, known as the
*“ Lowe Papers,” wherein almost every act and word
connected with the captivity is faithfully recorded.
As if this were not enough, there are twenty-nine
volumes in the Record Office which fill in the few gaps
in the “ Lowe Papers.” These records, which must
always be regarded as the only firm foundation upon
which any work connected with St. Helena, how-
ever humble, can be built, I have read and used
freely.

Until recently nearly all writers dealing with Napoleon
in St. Helena have rather neglected the * Lowe Papers,”
and Forsyth's ** History of the Captivity "’ founded on
the “ Papers™ has been accepted as an unbiassed
summary of the subject. But in 1912 my friend Mr.
G. L. de St. M. Watson published ** A Polish Exile with
Napoleon,” which was based on an exhaustive analysis
of the ** Lowe Papers,” and he has shown conclusively
that it is by no means safe to accept blindly Forsyth's
able advocacy of the policy of the British Authorities.
The work Mr. Watson has accomplished in his minute
criticism of the * Lowe Papers " is invaluable, and to
him, in common with all students of the captivity, I am
deeply indebted, not only for his book, but for the ready
way in which he has given me the benefit of his able
criticism and advice.

It has always appeared to me that a small Directory,
or “ Who's Who,” of those connected with the cap-
tivity of Napoleon would serve a useful purpose in
saving the time and trouble required in searching for
names, or particular occurrences. Although the ** Lowe
Papers ” are amply sufficient to inform us as to the
status or line of conduet of almost all the residents in
St. Helena at that time, there are no books or records
in collected form which tell us anything about their
careers, and if information be desired regarding any






INTRODUCTION 5

iconography on reference to his library, and his great
knowledge of that subject.

To my friends Dr. J. F. Silk and Mr. Norwood
Young I am deeply grateful for the way in which they
have helped me during the research required for this
little work. Dr. Silk has placed at my disposal his
valuable St. Helena collection, and Mr. Young, although
busily engaged on his work, ** Napoleon in Exile,” has
at all times, in the kindest way, alforded me assistance
with his valuable eriticisms.

The nineteen portraits which illustrate the book have,
I believe, with the exception of that of Colonel Wilks,
never been published before, and for permission to
reproduce them I desire to thank sincerely the following
owners :—

Mrs. Agg, for the portrait of her grandfather, Dr,
Burton.

Dr. Silk, for t.he portraits of his great-uncle, Dr.
Baxter, and Colonel Mark Wilks.

Mrs. Arnott Collington, for the portrait of her uncle,
Dr. Arnott.

Miss Crokat, for the portrait of her uncle, Captain
Crokat.

Mrs. Emmerton, for the portraits of her grandfather
and grandmother, Mr. and Mrs. William Balcombe,

Mr. Aleyn Reade, through the instrumentality of
Mr. Broadley, for the portrait of Sir Thomas Reade.

Mrs. Mansel-Pleydell, for the portrait of Colonel John

Admiral F. R. Boardman, c.B., for the portrait of his
godfather, Captain Ross.

Mr. Orbell W. Oakes, for the portrait of his uncle,
Admiral Plampin.

Captain A. G. Shortt, for the portrait of his grand-
father, Dr. Shortt.

Mr. G. de Gorrequer Griffith, for the portrait of
Major Gorrequer.






THE ISLAND OF ST. HELENA
AND ITS ADMINISTRATION

St. HELENA was discovered by Juan de Nova Castella,
a Portuguese navigator, on May 21st, 1502, and gained
its name from the fact that the day of discovery was the
anniversary of the feast-day of Helena, the mother of the
Emperor Constantine. In 1651 the East India Company
took possession of the Island, and on April 8rd, 1661,
Charles II granted the Company a Charter. In 1672 the
Dutch gained possession of the Island, but in the following
year were driven out by Sir Richard Munden and Captain
Kedgwin. On December 16th, 1678, Charles II re-
granted the Island to the East India Company, and in
their possession it remained until 1815 when, having
been selected as a residence for Napoleon, an arrange-
ment was made, by which the Governor was to be
appointed by the Crown with full powers, and the East
India Company were to bear the expense, equivalent
to an average of the three preceding years. The re-
mainder of the expense attendant upon the safe
custody of Napoleon was borne by the British Govern-
ment.

After the death of Napoleon the government of
the Island reverted to the East India Company, and
this continued until April 22nd, 1884, when it was
taken over by the British Government.

An excellent account of St. Helena will be found in
“ The History of St. Helena,"” by T. H. Brooke, published
in 1808 and 1824, and in * St. Helena, the Historic
Isle,” by E. L. Jackson. Ward, Lock and Co., 1908.

With the advent of Napoleon, many new naval and
military posts were created, and the following is a list
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THE ISLAND OF ST. HELENA 11

Junior Merchants.

David Kay. Pensioned in 1817,

John Kay. Deputy Secretary. Pensioned in 1817.
George Blenkens. Deputy Paymaster.

Robt. Francis Seale. Deputy Storekeeper.
Anthony Beale. First Assistant Paymaster.

Factors.

George Voteur Lambe. First Assistant Storekeeper.

Nathaniel Kennedy. Deputy Accountant. Died
1828,

Charles Blake. First Assistant Secretary.

David L. Leech. Assistant Accountant. Died 1820.

Writers,

W. H. Seale. Second Assistant Accountant. Died
1834,

Thomas P. Hollis. Retired in 1816,

Thomas B. Brooke.

R. Brooke.

John Young.

John Doveton.

Judges and Magistrates.
Sir W. W. Doveton.
Robert Leech.
T. H. Brooke.
Thomas Greentree,
Judge Advocate.
Major C. R. G. Hodson. Formerly Town Major.
Died 1855.
Town Majors.
Capt. John Barnes. Died 1817.
Capt. Thomas J. B, Cole. Died 1827.
Superintendent of Police,
Thomas Rainsford. Died 1817.
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Medical Establishment.
Superintendents.

David Kay, retired February 10th, 1820. Died 1833.
Matthew Livingstone. Died 1821.

- Surgeons.
Robt. Crout. Died 1817.
George Mead.

Assistant Surgeons.
John Mellis. Died 1820.
John Hammond,
F. Cole.
John Price.
Gordon Lorimer.
Thomas Harrington.

The salaries attaching to the various posts held by
those in the employ of the East India Company, as
Senior and Junior Merchants, Factors, and Writers, were
as follows :—

£
Paymaster . . . 1400
Accountant and Secret.a.ry - . 1400
Storekeeper . : . 1000
Acting Accountant . ; . . 1000 "
Deputy Storekeeper , . . 600
Deputy Secretary . 1 Y . 500
Deputy Paymaster . ; ‘ . 500
Deputy Accountant p : . 500
1st Assistant Paymaster . : . 850
1st Assistant Storekeeper. ) . 850
1st Assistant Secretary . : A 350
Assistant Accountant . ; . 850
2nd Assistant Storekeeper . . 8300
2nd Assistant Accountant g 300

(References. *“ Lowe Papers,” vol. ‘.!l}'ﬂ-i(l £ i
“ East India Register,” 1814-36.)
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TOPOGRAPHICAL POINTS 19

Longwood.—The residence of Napoleon, and formerly
occupied by the Lt.-Governor.

The Briars.—The residence of William Balcombe. Napo-
leon lived in an adjacent pavilion until Decem-
ber 10th, 1815, when he removed to Longwood.
After Balcombe left, Admirals Plampin and Lam-
bert established themselves there.

Hall.—Formerly the residence of Mr. W.
Wrangham, but occupied by Baron and Baroness
Sturmer and Count Balmain,

Knollecombe.—Occupied by Sir George and Lady Bing-
ham, and then by General and Mrs. Pine-Coffin.

Hutt’s Gate.—A small house occupied by the Bertrands,
until a better one could be built.

The House of Mr. Porteous.—Situated in Jamestown.
Napoleon slept here for the first night on arrival.
It was much frequented by the officers on the Naval
Station as a lodging house, and the Marquis de
Montchenu also lived here

Alarm House—Occupied by Colonel and Mrs. Wynyard.
Sir Thomas Reade also resided here at times, but
he also had a house in Jamestown.

Mount Pleasant, Sandy Bay.—The residence of Sir
William Doveton. Napoleon paid this house a
visit on two oceasions, and on October 4th, 1820,
had breakfast there.

High Peake.—Here was established the Hospital for
Naval Invalids.

Castle of Otranto.—The residence of Major Seale.

Prospect House.—Oeccupied by Mr. Secretary Brooke.

Smith’s Gate.—Occupied by the Rev. Richard Boys.

Horse Pasture Farm.—The house of Mr. Knipe, and
* Le Bouton de Rose."

High Knoll.—The house of Mr. Robert Leech.

Military Camps.—Deadwood, Francis Plain, Lemon
Valley, and Jamestown.
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for England, while those who had elected to join the
1st Battalion in India sailed in the * Baring™ on
July 29th. The 2nd Battalion was finally reduced
on October 1st, 1817, and the officers were placed on
half-pay on December 25th, but a small contingent was
left in St. Helena under the command of Lieutenant
James Trevenen,

Residence in India, which followed that of St.
Helena, caused many fatalities in the ranks of the
officers.

The following officers served with the 2nd Battalion
in St. Helena :—

Lt.-Colonel.

John Mansel, c.B. In command of the regi-
ment. Arrived on May
6th, 1816, and left in
January, 1817. Died
1863,

Major.

Oliver G. Fehrzen. In command of the bat-
talion until March 18th,
1816, when he left for
the Cape, He was again
in command from Jan-
uary to July, 1817. He
died in India, January
19th, 1820,

Captains.

Robt. Younghusband. = Commanded the battalion
during the absence of
Fehrzen. Died 1853,

Charles Harrison. Brigade Major. Trans-
ferred to the 20th Regi-
ment, and retired from
the Army in 1888,

John Fernandez. Died 1824,












REV. RICHARD BOYS
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The following officers were in St. Helena with the

regiment :—

Lt.-Colonel.
Charles Nicol.

Major.

Edmund Lascelles.

Captains.
James Baird.

Anthony Richards.

T. B. Dunn.

Peter Duncan.
J. H. Ellis.
Wm. Dunbar.
George Nicholls.

G. L. Goldie.

Lieutenants.
Wm. Davy.

W. L’Estrange.

Left the Island early in
March, 1818, and re-
turned in April, 1820,
Died 1850,

Commanded the regiment
from September 13th to
November 12th, 1817,
and from February 25th
to October 28rd, 1818.
Left the Island on Octo-
ber 29th, 1818. Died
1851.

Left the Island, April 20th,
1819. Retired 1888.

Left the Island in 1820.
Retired 1823.

Arrived August 21st, 1819,
Died 1823.

Retired in 1888.

Retired 1881,

Arrived in 1821. Died 1888.

Orderly Officer at Long-
wood. Arrived June
26th, 1818. Left in
1820. Died 1857.

Arrived June 26th, 1818.
Died 1868.

Drowned while fishing, De-
cember 14th, 1818.
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Philip Ditmas. Joined in 1819. Retired
1839.
Angus de Fountain. Joined in 1820. Died 1825.
John Ward. Arrived in 1821. Died 1878.
Charles Cook. Arrived in 1821.
Surgeons.
Matthew Heir. Left April 29th, 1819.
Died in 1849,
Franeis Burton. Arrived March 81st, 1821,
Died 1828.
Walter Henry. Died 1860.
Thomas Laidlaw. Arrived in 1818. Died
1822,
Paymaster.
John Kerr. Arrived in 1819. Took the
name of Trattle. Died
1849, K

References.—** Muster Rolls,” ** Casualty Lists,” * Half-
Pay Lists,” Record Office, “ Army Lists.”

20tH Foor REGIMENT

This regiment arrived in St. Helena between March
20th and April 8th, 1819, in the * Albinia,” ** Oro-
mocto,” * Lloyds,” and * Windermere.,” It was at
first quartered at Jamestown, Francis Plain, Lemon
Valley, High Knoll, and Ladder Hill, but in February,
1820, it was removed to Deadwood to replace the 66th
Regiment, and remained there until the death of the
Emperor. At the funeral, twelve men of the Grenadier
company of the regiment had the honour of bearing to
the grave, during the latter part of the journey, the
coffin containing the mortal remains of the mighty
CONQuEror.,
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THE FLAGSHIPS AT ST. HELENA 37

In addition to Napoleon and his suite, the **Northum-
berland ”’ also carried the artillery detachment destined
for service in St. Helena, under the command of the
following officers :—

Captain Thomas Greatly.

Lieutenant Gabriel Matthias (with him Mrs, Matthias).

Lieutenant Henry Hutchins.

James Verling, m.p. Surgeon.

Sir George Bingham, in command of the troops in
St. Helena, and Denzil Ibbetson, the Commissary, were
also on board, and amongst the midshipmen was H. Nelson
Mills, whose interesting letters have been published.

The above lists have been taken from the *° Muster
Rolls " of the * Northumberland,” in the Record
Office, and it is worthy of remark that wherever the
name of ** General Bonaparte” appears on the ship’s
muster books the word * General " has been ecrossed
out and the word “ Empr.” written over it. Notice
is called to this fact by three bold marks of exclamation
in the margin.

The after-history of the ** Northumberland ™ is not
without interest. On her return home from St. Helena,
she was placed out of commission, and for a time was used
as a ** Lazaretto.”” Eventually, however, she was moored
in Stangate Creek as a quarantine ship, and on this duty
she remained until 1850, when she was finally broken up.

Reference.—* The Admiralty Muster Rolls,”” Record
Office.

H.M.S. “ NEwcasTLE,” 60 Guxs

Arrived St. Helena, June 17th, 1816, Left July 4th,
1817.

Rear-Admiral Sir Pulteney Malecolm.

John Irving. Secretary to the Admiral.

John Hutchings. Clerk to the Secretary.

W. E. Wright. Flag-Lieutenant,
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AxTomMAarcHI, Francesco. Physician to Napoleon in
St. Helena. Born at Morsiglia in Corsica in
1789. Died at Santiago in Cuba, April 3rd, 1838.
Aged 49,

Antommarchi studied medicine at Pisa, and
then at Florence, where he became a pupil of
Maseagni, and eventually one of his prosectors.
He was chosen to fill the post of physician to
Napoleon by Cardinal Fesch and ** Madame Mére,”
and left Gravesend in the “ Snipe ™ on July 9th,
1819, reaching St. Helena on September 20th of
the same year. He paid his first professional visit
to Napoleon on September 23rd, and remained in
attendance until the end. Although a most capable
anatomist and pathologist, his knowledge of medi-
cine was not extensive, and his abilities may be
summed up in Napoleon's own words : * I would
give him my horse to dissect, but I would not trust
him with the cure of my own foot.” Antommarchi
performed the post-mortem examination; but
although he expressed himself in agreement with
the official report, he refused to sign it. He left
St. Helena in the ** Camel "’ on May 27th, 1821, and
arrived at Spithead on July 81st; but early in
September he left England for the Continent, and
after visiting Italy and Poland, lived in Paris from
1834 to 1886. In 1825 he published his ** Derniers
Moments de Napoléon,” and in 1888 advertised
copies of the death-mask, which he eclaimed to
have executed in St. Helena. It is now known,
however, that Dr. Burton was the author of the
famous mask of Napoleon’s features. Besides
“Les Derniers Moments,” Antommarchi pub-
lished “ Mémoires et observations sur le choléra
morbus régnant & Varsovie,”” 1881, and ** Mémoires
sur la non-existence de communication normale des
vaisseaux lymphatiques et des veines.”
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1818, and soon after his departure Lowe received
proof of his suspicion that Balcombe had been
acting as an intermediary in the transmission of
clandestine correspondence to KEurope, and in
negotiating bills drawn by Napoleon. It was,
therefore, impossible for Balcombe to return to
St. Helena, and he remained in England until
1823, when, after having been approached by Lowe,
he filed an affidavit in his favour, in the case of
Lowe v. O'Meara. This affidavit probably induced
Lowe to withdraw the objections he had steadily
opposed to Balcombe’s advancement. Indeed, in
the “ Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,283, is a letter from
Balcombe, dated 1823, in which he expresses the
hope that Sir Hudson will now overlook any
differences that may have existed.

Very soon after this Balcombe was appointed by
the British Government to the important post of
Colonial Treasurer of New South Wales, and he
left England with his family to take up his duties,
which he performed with great ability until his
death in 1829. It should not be forgotten that
Lord Bathurst appointed Balcombe to this post,
and this action may be regarded as sufficient
evidence that his Lordship did not take a very
serious view of his supposed irregularities in St.
Helena.

Most writers have credited Balcombe with the
Christian name of ** James,"” but this error is owing
to Forsyth having published a letter of his over
that signature. His real name was * William.”

Barmainy, Alexandre Antonoviteh, Count de. The
Russian Commissioner.

He was descended from the Scotch family
Ramsay, and came out to St. Helena in the “ New-
castle,” landing on June 17th, 1816. He left the
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Baxter was next appointed Deputy-Inspector of
Hospitals in St. Helena, at the request of Sir
Hudson Lowe, and arrived with the Governor in
the * Phaeton " on April 14th, 1816. He remained
in the Island until 1819, and during that time
played a most important part in the difficult situa-
tions which arose regarding medical attendance on
the Emperor. Lowe was most anxious that Baxter
should be consulted by Napoleon but, although
the Emperor had no objection to seeing him as a
private individual, and did see him in that capacity
on several occasions, he was firm in his resolve not to
receive him as a medical attendant. When Napo-
leon refused to permit O'Meara to furnish Lowe
with bulletins regarding his health, Baxter made
the reports, after receiving a verbal account from
O'Meara. These reports can be consulted in
volume 20,156, *“ Lowe Papers,” but the originals
are in the possession of his grand-nephew, Dr. Silk,
and apparently many corrections were n
before they were finally accepted by Sir Hudson
Lowe.

After leaving St. Helena in 1819, Baxter gradu-
ated M.D. at Edinburgh, his thesis being * De
Febre Remittente,” and from 1829 to 1831 he was
in medical charge in Barbados.

BErNARD (surname, Heymann) and his wife. Servants
to Count and Countess Bertrand. They became
home-sick and left the Island in June, 1818.

BerTraND, Henri Gratien, General, Comte de (1778-
1844),

Bertrand was with Napoleon during the whole
period of the captivity, and occupied the position
of “ Grand Marshal.”” He lived first at Hutt's Gate,
and then at a newly-built villa close to Longwood.
The villa is now occupied by Mr, Deason.
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1816, immediately after his arrival in St. Helena,
for conduct unbecoming a gentleman while on
board ship, and was dismissed the service. While
waiting to be sent home he became involved in the
disputes between the Governor and the people at
Longwood, and for a time was placed in close con-
finement. Birmingham filed an affidavit in favour
of O'Meara, and at that time he was a major in the
army of the Colombian Republie.

BrakeNEY, Captain Henry Pierce (1782-1822). Orderly

Officer at Longwood, from July, 1817, to Septem-
ber, 1818.

Blakeney was the youngest son of William
Blakeney, m.p., Lt.-Colonel of the Welsh Fusiliers,
and a younger brother of Sir Edward Blakeney,
a soldier of considerable renown. Captain Blakeney
entered the Army as Ensign in the 66th Foot, and
saw much active service in the Peninsular War. He
was promoted Captain in 1806, and Major in 1818,
While on duty at Longwood he earned the esteem
~of the residents but, notwithstanding this favour-
able impression, they afterwards charged him with
having been in the habit of inspecting the soiled
linen for the purpose of detecting forbidden
correspondence. This charge Captain Blakeney
flatly denied, and the imputation that both Blake-
ney and his wife were constantly under the influence
of aleohol rests on very doubtful evidence.

BoormaN., A plumber and paper-hanger, often em-

ployed with Paine, a painter, at Longwood, and in
Napoleon's apartments.

Bouces, Etienne. A servant in the employ of Count

Bertrand, who replaced Bernard, and left behind
him an account of life at Longwood.

Bowex, Captain John. The Commander of the “ Sal-

sette,”
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green bag to be given out 7" On June 11th, 1821,
Mr. Boys complained of the violation of the Lord’s
Day. The Council thought there was no founda-
tion for this complaint, but * thought Mr, Boys
was the dictator of many of the indecorous and
insulting letters to the Government.” In the eyes
of the Council, however, the worst offence of Mr,
Boys was the sermon he preached on July 8th, 1821,
that is, the last Sunday before the departure from
St. Helena of Sir Hudson Lowe and his staff. On
that occasion he chose as his text, ** Verily I say
unto you that publicans and harlots go into the
kingdom of God before you.” In this way did
Boys ring down the curtain on the drama of the
captivity, and repay the official persons for their
judgments on his conduct. The Council called upon
him for a copy of his sermon, which he flatly
refused to give, and Mr. Brooke was deputed
to go to church the next Sunday and report
on the utterances of the Chaplain. His report
was to the effect that the said utterances were
disgraceful.

Boys went to Rio Janeiro, but Sir William
Thornton was compelled to send him away on
account of ** his indecent behaviour when a catholie
procession was passing by.”

So far as the captivity of Napoleon was concerned,
Mr. Boys was brought into contact with Longwood
on one occasion only. He buried Cipriani, and for
this service was given by Napoleon on April 18th,
1818, a snuff-box for himself, and £25 for the poor.
The snuff-box was returned, however, on account
of having been given in a manner contrary to the
regulations. (See “ Forsyth,” Vol. III, p. 8.)

Boys was vicar of Loose in Kent from 1854 to
1867, and he published two works, ** Elements of
Christian Knowledge " and * Primitive Obliqui-
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* Such scenes and hours never can be forgotten,
but must ever be remembered with inexpressible
happiness.

** He watched over us as a father over his family,
and sought by every means to promote our welfare ;
and as all were young men, and young converts,
and stood in need of that instruction which ex-
perience alone could afford, he became a peculiar
blessing to us; and this proved to himself a re-
newal of spiritual life and activity in the labour of
the ministry, which continues, undiminished to this
day. And now that a new and amiable Governor
commands the Island, and is his friend and patron
in promoting the cause of Christ, the work of the
Lord is flourishing abundantly, particularly among
the slaves; who, by the Governor's new regula-
tions, commanding their masters to send them to
church at all regular services, have the gospel
preached constantly by Mr., Boys and Mr. Vernon ;
and the schools have greatly increased in numbers,
so that the rising generation, in this once aban-
doned profligate Island, is now brought up strictly
in the nurture and admonition of the Lord. 1
mention this in justice to his character, who
although his instrumentality was not blessed to
the conversion of any of the young saints, became a
father to them all, so that I know not what we
should have done without him. He made his
house a regular hospital for any of the naval
Christians when sick, and both he and dear
Mrs. Boys (a true mother in Israel) not only
attended to their bodily wants, but, above all,
to their souls. The Lord of the vineyard
reward them both abundantly here and here-
after. I mention these circumstances thus par-

ticularly, for it is a debt of love absolutely due
to him,"”






DR, WALTER HENRY
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BuoxaviTa, the Abbé Antonio, who was sent out to
St. Helena at the instigation of Cardinal Fesch.
He had been a missionary in Mexico, and was old
and incapable. He arrived on September 20th,
1819, and left on March 17th, 1821.

Burron, Francis, M.D. (1784-1828). Surgeon to the
66th Regiment. Author of the death-mask of
Napoleon.

Burton was born at Tuam, and after studying
medicine at Dublin, entered the Army in 1805.
He served much of his time in the Peninsula, and
in 1818 was appointed Surgeon to the 4th Foot.
In 1819, on the special recommendation of Sir
James Macgrigor, he became Surgeon to the
66th Regiment, and arrived in St. Helena on
March 81st, 1821. He was present at the post-
mortem examination of Napoleon, and signed the
official report. An important letter of Burton's
can be found in the * Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,214, in
which he explains why Antommarchi failed to sign
the official report of the appearances observed at
the autopsy.

But Burton will be remembered chiefly as the
author of the famous death-mask of Napoleon.
Thanks to the labours of M. Frédéric Masson, and
Mr. G. L. de St. M. Watson, it is now established
beyond doubt that Burton was responsible for the
mould of Napoleon's features, after Antommarchi
had made the attempt and had failed. Sir Richard
Burton was a nephew of Burton, and Lady Burton,
in the * Life of her Husband,” says that Dr.
Burton had in his possession letters from Antom-
marchi, in which he acknowledged that Burton was
the author of the mask, but that Mrs. Burton
destroyed these after her husband’s death.
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tinique, and Holland, he obtained flag rank in 1812,
and was ordered to North America, where he
showed his great capacity as a naval commander
in the brilliant operations on the Chesapeake, the
Sassafras, and the Potomae rivers. In this war he
co-operated with General Ross at the battles of
Bladensburg and Baltimore, and, after the former
battle, entered Washington, which was destroyed.

For these services Cockburn was created K.C.B.
in 1815, and was selected to cbnvey Napoleon to
St. Helena in the ‘“ Northumberland.” He sailed
from the Start on August 8th, and arrived at
St. Helena on October 15th, 1815. He remained
in command at St. Helena until the arrival of Sir
Hudson Lowe on April 14th, 1816, and left the
Island on June 19th, 18186,

Cockburn became Viece-Admiral in 1819, and
commanded on the North American and West
Indian Stations from 1838 to 1836. In 1887 he
became full Admiral, and in 1841 First Naval Lord.
An account of the voyage of the * Northumber-
land " has been published. (See ** Napoleon's Last
Voyages,” ** Glover's Diary,” ** Napoleon's Fellow
Travellers "' ; and for full Biographies of Cockburn,
see Marshall's *“ Naval Biographies,” O’Byrne's
““ Naval Biography,” and Ralfe’'s *“ Naval Bio-
graphies.”)

Core, Joseph. The Postmaster in St. Helena, and a
member of the firm of Balcombe, Fowler and Co.

CoorEer, the “ one-eyed,” alias William Gordon.

He brought up to Longwood a large tub, twelve
feet square, to serve as a reservoir for Napoleon's
garden, and for this service the Emperor gave him
a glass of wine with his own hand. This event

occurred on January 12th, 1820. (See Nicholls’
Journal, * Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,210.)
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given his majority, and £500. After this he served
in India for some years and retired on half-pay
in 1826.

Crokat then spent several years travelling in
Italy with Lord Panmure, who was engaged in
inspecting and buying pictures. His subsequent
promotions were :—Lt.-Colonel in 1837, Colonel in
1851, Major-General in 1855, Lt.-General in 1861,
and General in 1871. Onece when in Paris, Crokat
was urged to attend an official reception, but
demurred on account of the known animosity
towards those who had taken part in guarding
Napoleon. He, however, yielded to the pressing
request to attend, but on the way home was at-
tacked, and owed his life to a button of his uniform
which deflected the dagger of the would-be assassin.

Crokat lived at 52 Inverleith Row, Edinburgh,
and there he died at the advanced age of ninety on
November 6th, 1879. He was the last to survive
of those who had seen Napoleon on his death-bed.
Captain Crokat was of commanding presence,
being six feet two inches, and if the portrait which
accompanies this memoir be compared with the
one in Steuben's famous death-bed scene, the
faithfulness of the likeness will be appreciated.
Although never tired of talking about the eventful
days spent at Longwood, he left no written account
behind him, and so much that would be of great
interest to students of the period is, therefore, lost.
He possessed numerous relics of Napoleon, amongst
which may be mentioned—a silver plate and knife,
used by the Emperor in St. Helena ; a portrait of
Napoleon, which, encircled with diamonds, formed
the lid of one of the snuff-boxes; the wooden
spatula, used by Napoleon to clean his spade when
gardening ; the cordon worn during the Hundred
Days, and a pair of silk stockings and garters. For
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never recovered from his illness, and died in 1825,
after six years’ suffering. He was presented to
Napoleon on July 8rd, 1817. Davie was the
author of a very popular manual, entitled ** Obser-
vations and Instructions for Officers.”

De Fountain, John. A senior merchant in the East
India Company's service, who was dismissed, in
company with another, for serious defalcations.

DexMaN, Captain Edmund. In command of the “ Red-
pole.” According to Marshall's * Royal Naval
Biography,” Denman, through his friendship with
the Balcombes, spent an evening with Napoleon
and played whist with him. He died in 1846.

Dirrow, Captain W. H. In command of the ** Horatio "’
and the * Phaeton.” Dillon was a cousin of the
Countess Bertrand, and came to see her on two
occasions. He had been taken prisoner in Holland
in 1804, and remained in captivity in that country,
and at Verdun, for four years. On this account he
was not presented to Napoleon.

Dopein, Major Daniel. In eommand of the 2nd Bat-
talion of the 66th Foot Regiment. He arrived
in St. Helena in 1816, and commanded the two
battalions in the absence of Colonel Nicol, and
after Colonel Lascelles had been sent home. He
was one of the officers presented to Napoleon, as
described by Henry in his *“ Events of a Military
Life.” Dodgin filed an affidavit in favour of Sir
Hudson Lowe. He died in 1887.

Dobeixn, Captain Henry Duncan. Of the 66th Regiment.

Dodgin was attached to the 2nd Battalion of the
66th, and came to St. Helena in 1816. After the
reduction of this battalion, Dodgin was transferred
to the 1st Battalion, and he eventually joined the
20th Foot. He was presented to Napoleon with
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Emmett entered the Army in 1808, and served
in the Peninsular and American Wars. He came
to St. Helena in the *° Phaeton,” arriving on
April 14th, 1816, and remained until September,
1821. As chief of the Engineers, Emmett was
entrusted with the repairs to Longwood, the
building of the New House, Bertrand’s Villa, and
Napoleon's grave. On July 20th, 1817, in com-
pany with Basil Jackson, he had an interview with
Napoleon. This interview is fully reported in Basil
Jackson's * Reminiseences,” and also in ** Extracts
from Emmett's Diary,” published in the ** Century
Magazine,” January, 1912. The two accounts
differ materially, and should be read together.
Indeed, it seems to be clear that the ** Diary
of Emmett,” from which the extracts are taken,
was written some time after, for it contains in-
accuracies which could hardly have occurred had
it been written during the progress of the events
to which it refers. For instance, Emmett states
that Lord Mulgrave and General Mann were pas-
sengers by the * Phaeton,” but the * Muster
Rolls ™" of that ship do not bear out the statement,
He omits also to mention Lady Bingham’s name as
a passenger, and spells * Gorrequer,” *‘ Lorrequer,”
and “ Janisch,” * Jamisch.” He also states that he
has forgotten the name of ** Vignali,”" and places his
interview with Napoleon in 1816 instead of 1817.

Emmett was not persona grata to Lowe, and
the diary exhibits the Governor in no very pleasing
hight. The dislike was probably mutual, for Lowe
has placed on record his objection to the conduct
of Emmett, in a letter which exists in the * Lowe
Papers,” and it was well known that the Engineer
officer held advanced opinions.

Emmett retired from the Army with the rank of
Major-General, and died at Brighton in 1872,

F
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for his learning, distinguished for his valour, es-
teemed for his piety, a soldier by nature, a gentle-
man by birth, a friend to all, an enemy to none.”
Many of the affidavits filed on behalf of Lowe in his
action against O'Meara deal only with the question
of whether Fehrzen said that officers of the 58rd
were forbidden to visit the people at Longwood.

Festing, Captain Robert Worgan George, c.B. In
command of the * Falmouth " and the * Racoon
on the St. Helena Station.

Festing entered the Navy in 1799, and served
much of his time in the Dutch East Indies. He
obtained post rank in 1811, and from Septem-
ber 26th, 1815, to August 3rd, 1817, was engaged
on the Cape of Good Hope and St. Helena Stations.
During this time he had two interviews with
Napoleon—on August 1st, 1816, and on March
25th, 1817. In 1838 he was given a C.B., and
was advanced to the rank of Rear-Admiral in
1846. Festing died in 1862,

Finvarson, John. The Keeper of the Records at the
Admiralty. He lived at 80 Craven Street, Strand,
and was a friend of O'Meara. It was to Finlaison
that O'Meara addressed his famous letters from
St. Helena.

Forsyrn, William, q.c., m.A. Author of the “ History
of the Captivity of Napoleon™ (8 vols. Murray,
1853).

Forsyth was born in 1812, at Greenock, and was
educated at Trinity College, Cambridge, where he
obtained a high degree in classics. He was elected
a Fellow of his college, and then devoted himself
to law. In addition to the * History of the Cap-
tivity,” compiled from the “ Lowe Papers,” he
was the author of * Hortensius,” a * Life of Cicero,”
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always at hand with his notebook, and the minutes
thus made formed the basis of the lengthy reports
addressed to Lord Bathurst by Sir Hudson Lowe.
It is no exaggeration to say that we owe it entirely
to the industry of Gorrequer that we possesg such
a complete record of the captivity of Napoleon in
St. Helena. He knew the peculiar temperament
of Sir Hudson better than any man, and all the
manifold twists and turns of his intricate policy
were to him an open book.

From his official correspondence it would appear
that he was a whole-hearted supporter of Lowe’s
policy ; but Sturmer, no mean judge of human
character, described him as wun finaud, and his
real impressions have always given rise to doubts.
Placed in the position of confidential elerk to Lowe,
and in possession of unrivalled knowledge of events
in St. Helena, it has always been accounted strange
that Gorrequer left no record of his private views
of the policy towards Napoleon. Documents are,
however, in existence which give Gorrequer’s
ideas concerning certain phases in the history of
the captivity, but they are so jealously guarded
that it is doubtful if their contents will ever be
revealed, Indeed, on one occasion many years
ago, when the question arose as to whether these
documents should be taken from their secure
resting-place, it was decreed by a high authority
that since they contained remarks of such high
political importance it was better that they should
not see light.

Gorrequer died suddenly while walking in Jermyn
Street on July 18th, 1841.

Gors, Captain Jean Claude de. The Secretary to the
Marquis de Montchenu. He arrived with his
master in the * Newecastle” on June 17th, 1816,
and left St. Helena in June, 1821,
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H

Havy, Captain Basil, F.r.s. (1786-1844). In command
of the * Lyra."”

Hall was a son of Sir James Hall, of Dunglass,
and entered the Navy in 1802. He was appointed
to the command of the ** Lyra,” one of the vessels
chosen to accompany the ** Alceste,” conveying
the members of Lord Amherst’s Mission to China.
On the way home from China, the * Lyra " reached
St. Helena on August 11th, 1817, and on August
18th, Captain Hall was granted an interview with
Napoleon. A full account of this most interesting
reception is given in Hall's book, “ A Voyage of
Discovery to the Western Coast of Corea, and the
Great Loo Choo Island,” published in 1817, but it
can also be found in Marshall's *“ Royal Naval
Biography,” Supplement to Pt. LV, p. 154. Mr.
Clifford and Mr. Hervey were presented at the
same time, and the former has left an account of
his impressions.

Captain Hall was a voluminous writer, chiefly
on nautical science, but his ** Extracts from a
Journal, 1820 to 1822 " will be found interesting.

Havv, James. The Surgeon to the * Favourite,” who
testified to the fact that O'Meara, at Ascension,
had stated openly that Napoleon would not now be
alive had he (O'Meara) paid attention to Sir
Hudson Lowe's suggestions.

Harr, Miss Mary. The governess or nursemaid to
the Bertrand children. She was selected by Lady
Jerningham, and arrived on June 26th, 1818. On
October 16th, 1819, she married St. Denis.

Hamivrow, Captain Gawen William, c.B. (1784-1884).
Commander of the *“ Havannah."”

Captain Hamilton was born and educated in
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Henry, Walter (1791-1860). Assistant-Surgeon to the
66th Regiment.

Henry was the eldest son of John Henry, a
merchant in Donegal, and after being apprenticed
to his uncle he studied medicine at Glasgow,
St. Thomas', Guy's, and St. George’s. In 1811 he
passed the examination qualifying him to be ap-
pointed a surgeon to a regiment, and joined the
66th Foot as Assistant-Surgeon. He served through
the Peninsular War, and went with the 1st Bat-
talion to India. He arrived with this battalion
in St. Helena on July 5th, 1817, and remained to
the end. His subsequent promotions were:
Surgeon in 1826, Staff Surgeon in 1839, Deputy
Inspector-General in 1845, and Inspector-General
in 1852, These two last appointments were held

" in Canada, and he died at Belleville in 1860, having
retired in 1855.

Henry will be chiefly remembered for his book,
“Events of a Military Life,” published in 18483,
which was previously published anonymously under
the title of * Trifles from My Portfolio,” and in
the first ninety pages of the second volume he re-
counts his impressions of his life in St. Helena. He
was present at the post-mortem examination, and
in the “ Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,214, p. 200, is his
full and most graphic account of the proceedings
on that occasion,

Hoatn, Cornet J. W, In command of about twenty
men of the 21st Light Dragoons, who were em-
ployed in St. Helena as despatech riders. Lowe
ordered Hoath to give up his command and to
proceed to the Cape. Thereupon, Hoath demanded
an enquiry, since he felt himself insulted by being
asked to hand over his cavalry command to a mere
infantry officer. He died in 1887,
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Montholon, in a letter dated May, 1827, and now
published for the first time (see the ** Case of Rear-
don "), state this fact, and assign £365 of Holmes’
debt to Reardon, and in 1857 Reardon’s son is
advised to sue Holmes for the amount, to be paid
him out of the 182,000 franes which he still owed
the estate of Napoleon.

Napoleon’s paper was hawked about Europe,
the favourite countries for these operations being
England, France, and Italy, and owing to the fact
that correspondence with Longwood was difficult,
it is possible that much of the money intended for
the needs of the illustrious prisoner found its way
into the pockets of the unserupulous. Holmes was
one of the executors under O'Meara’s will.

Hooxk, Theodore (1788-1841). Stayed in St. Helena,
on his way home from Mauritius, from Novem-
ber 2nd to the 26th, 1818. (See Mr. Watson's
* Polish Exile,”” p. 255.) He published in 1819,
probably at the instance of Sir Hudson Lowe,
* Facts Illustrative of the Treatment of Napoleon,”
and these have since been reprinted by Mr. Shorter.
O’Meara published, in 1819, his *“ Exposition™ as
a reply. Hook was ready to sell his pen to any-
body, and his doubtful echaracter renders his
opinions of little value,

IeBETsON, Denzil (1788-1857). The Commissary in
St. Helena.

Ibbetson entered the Commissariat Department
of the Army as clerk in 1808, and went through the
Peninsular War, receiving the medals for Roleia and
Vimiera. In 1814 he was promoted Assistant Com-
missary General, and was selected to proceed to
St. Helena in 1815. He sailed on board the






THE ST. HELENA WHO'S WHO (ki

in company with Major Emmett, he had an inter-
view with Napoleon, and on July 8th, 1819, he left
St. Helena in the * Diana.”

Jackson was an artist, and did several water-
colour sketches of views in St. Helena, and one at
least of Napoleon himself. He also drew the plans
of Longwood New House. Jackson died at the
advanced age of ninety-four, in 1889, and has, there-
fore, the distinction of being the last to survive
of those connected with the captivity. For a full
account of Jackson, see his book, *“ Reminiscences
of a Staff Officer,” published in 1877, and again
in 1903.

Jackson, Major Edward, x.5. In command of the
20th Foot during the absence of Colonel South.
Jackson figures in the history of the captivity
on account of the action he took when Napoleon
presented to the 20th Regiment the ** Campaigns
of Marlborough "’ on April 14th, 1821. These books
were transmitted through Captain Lutyens, the
Orderly Officer, and Major Jackson wrote to him,
asking how the 20th could accept books which bore
the “ Imperial Inscription.” Lowe had already
mentioned his doubts concerning the wisdom of
accepting such a present from such a source, and
the books were returned. Eventually the 20th
regained possession of them, and they now rest in
the archives of the Lancashire Fusiliers.

Jackson became Lt.-Colonel in 1826, and died
in 1841.

Janiscu, William. Came out in the ** Phaeton " with
Lowe, as a clerk to Ibbetson, the Commissary, but
having little to do, he was employed by the Gover-
nor in secretarial duties. Janisch was a neat writer,
and on comparing much of the copied matter in
the “Lowe Papers” with his handwriting, the
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become that the Council ordered him not to make
any more allusions from the pulpit. To this order
Jones replied in a letter of twenty-eight pages.
Early in 1815, the bitter controversy between the
two chaplains, Jones and Boys, began, and this
continued with increasing virulence until, on
April 10th, Mr. Jones was suspended from his
duties, and was retired on an allowance of five
shillings per day.

When Napoleon arrived, Mr. Jones was acting
as tutor to the children of Balcombe, and he was
received by the Emperor on May 27th, 1816. On
the following day O'Meara records the fact that
Napoleon was of opinion that Mr. Jones was used
most shamefully, and that he should not have been
superseded, if only for the sake of his wife and
children. On being asked by Napoleon whether
Mr. Jones was a good man, O'Meara replied that
he believed so, but that he was rather prone to
meddling.

K

Kay, Dr. David. The Superintendent of the Medical
Establishment in St. Helena, and a Senior Merchant.
He retired from the former position in 1820, and
was succeeded by Matthew Livingstone. He died
in 1883.

Kearing, Sir Henry Sheehy, k.c.. Lt.-General, and
Governor of the Ile de Bourbon.

Keating paid a visit to Napoleon on July 27th,
1816, and at Lowe's last interview with the Em-
peror, a heated discussion took place as to what
Keating had said concerning the book Mr. Hob-
house had sent Napoleon, but which had been
detained by Lowe on account of the * Imperial

- Inscription” on the fly-leaf. The substance of
Keating’s interview is given in Forsyth, Vol. I,
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between the two doctors, which is related by Sir
Thomas Reade (see “ Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,207).
In Verling’s journal is a curious aceount of Living-
stone’s professional visit to Madame Bertrand, and
the extraordinary conversation between the Ber-
trands as the result of his examination of Madame
Bertrand. Livingstone attended the post-mortem
examination of Napoleon, but went away before
the completion of the operation, and in Dr. Shortt’s
original draft of the report, Livingstone's name is
omitted. These facts led Lowe to suspect that he
had been sent away by Dr. Shortt for some special
purpose. In [the final draft of the report, however,
his name appears. Livingstone was asked by Lowe
in the presence of Shortt whether he observed any-
thing abnormal in the liver at the post-mortem
examination, and he replied in the negative. In
St. Helena his services were in request on ac-
count of his skill as an accoucheur. (See
Verling's Journal, and *“ Lowe Papers,” vols.
20,188, 20,140.)

Loupoux, The Countess of (1780-1840),

Was the wife of Lord Moira, the Governor-
General of India, who afterwards became Marquis
of Hastings. She stayed at St. Helena for a short
time, on her passage to England, with her son,
Lord Hungerford, and was the unwitting cause
of Lowe’s tactless invitation to Napoleon to come
and meet the Countess at dinner. This invitation
was sent on May 11th, 1816,

Lowe, Sir Hudson, k.c.B., 6.0.M.G., Lt.-General, Governor
of St. Helena, Born at Galway, July 28th, 1769.
Died at Chelsea Cottage, January 10th, 1844,
aged seventy-four. Buried in St. Mark’s Church,
North Audley Street. Married Mrs. Johnson, the
sister of General Sir William de Lancy, December
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selected to go out to St. Helena. On July 16th,
1818, he was appointed Orderly Officer at Long-
wood, in sucecession to Captain Blakeney, who had
resigned. Napoleon took umbrage at this appoint-
ment on the grounds that Lyster was not an officer
of the regular army, and because he believed that he
had served in the Corsican Rangers. As a result of
these disputes, Lyster lost his temper, and, after
having been shown by Lowe Bertrand's intem-
perate letter of complaint, challenged the Grand
Marshal to a duel. He was, therefore, removed
from Longwood, and Blakeney was reappointed.
By far the best letter of O'Meara to Finlaison is
that in which he deseribes this incident. Lyster
died in 1845,

MacLeon, John. Surgeon to the ** Alceste,” which
conveyed the Amherst Mission to China, and which,
on the return home, was wrecked outside the
Gaspar Straits. MacLeod wrote the interesting
account of the voyage, entitled ** The Vovage and
Shipwreck of the * Alceste,” " Murray, 1818, and in
the last five pages he deseribes his impressions of
the visit to Napoleon on July 1st, 1817.

MarcoLm, Rear-Admiral Sir Pulteney, 6.c.n., 6.c.M.G.
(1768-1838).

Malcolm succeeded Sir George Cockburn on the
St. Helena Station, and arrived in the “ New-
castle” on June 17th, 1816. On account of his
handsome presence and engaging manners he soon
gained the warm regard of Napoleon, and with his
wife, who was Miss Elphinstone, and a relative of
Lord Keith, he paid him many visits at Lo
Although Malcolm did all he could to smooth over
the- differences between Lowe and Napoleon, his
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After his return to England, Mansel went to India
and assumed the command of the 1st Battalion.
This post he held until 1827, when he retired.

References.—** History of the 53rd Regiment,” by
Rogerson. See also Mr. Shorter’s ** Napoleon and
his Fellow Travellers,” where an interesting letter
of Mansel is published.

MarcHAND, Louis (1792-1876). First Valet to Napo-
leon at Longwood and executor under his will. His
mother was nurse to the King of Rome. He re-
mained throughout the eaptivity, and returned for
the exhumation in 1840. Marchand married in
1823 the daughter of General Brayer, and was
created a count in 1869. (See *““ Aprés la Mort de
I’'Empereur,” by Cahuet, for a full account of
Marchand.)

MarryaT, Captain Frederick (1791-1848), In command
of the “ Beaver " at St. Helena. He was one of
the three naval captains who inspected the body
of Napoleon on May 6th, and made a sketch of the
dead Emperor at Lowe's request, and also one of

the funeral. Was, of course, the well-known
novelist.

MarTiN, Mrs. The housekeeper to the Marquis de Mont-
chenu, who tried to kiss her. When Napoleon was
told of the incident by O'Meara, he remarked :
*“ I suppose the old ram wanted to violate her.”

(See O’Meara’s letters to Reade and Gorrequer,
* Lowe Papers.")

Mason, Miss Polly. One of the chief landowners in
St. Helena. She lived on the further side of Pros-
perous Valley, and Lowe proposed to rent her
house for Napoleon at £100 per month. According
to Mr. Norwood Young she is remembered at the
present day in St. Helena on account of her habit
of riding on an ox,
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concerning the grotesque personality of Montchenu,
see * Autour Ste. Héléne,” by Masson, and “ Events
of a Military Life,”" by Henry. Also *“ La Cap-
tivité de Ste. Héléne, d’aprés les Rapports inédits
du Marquis de Montchenu,” Firmin-Didot, 1894,

MonTtrOLON, Charles Tristan, Comte de (1783-1858).
Came out to St. Helena with Napoleon, and re-
mained the whole time. He married Albine Héléne
de Vassel (b. 1780), by whom he had three children.
Madame de Montholon left St. Helena with her
children on July 2nd, 1819, and Montholon left on
May 27th, 1821, on board the * Camel.” He
published his ** Récits ™ in 1846. For a full account
of Montholon, see * Autour Ste. Héléne " and
* Napoléon a Ste. Héléne," by Frédéric Masson.

Murray, Captain James Arthur,

Captain Murray, the son of Lord William Murray,
and nephew of the Duke of Atholl, was born in 1790,
and entered the Navy in 18038. After promotion to
the post of Lieutenant in the * Unicorn ™ in 1809,
he was employed off the coast of Portugal during the
Peninsular War, and while performing these duties,
the Surgeon of the * Unicorn ™ was sentenced to
imprisonment in the Marshalsea for striking Cap-
tain Murray at the officers’ mess. On May 14th,
1816, Captain Murray was given the command of
the * Griffon " on the St. Helena Station, and on
November 15th of the same year he was appointed
to the * Spey.” This last command he held until
November 21st, 1817 ; but in the following March
he was tried by court-martial, at the instance of
Admiral Plampin, for failing to send supplies to
the * Julia,” and the Island of Ascension. He
was, however, acquitted.

Captain Murray had an interview with Napoleon
on August 1st, 1816,






THE ST. HELENA WHO'S WHO 91

NicmoLrrs, Captain George (1776-1857). Of the 66th
Regiment, and Orderly Officer at Longwood.
Nicholls joined the 66th Foot in 1791, and his
further promotions were :—Lieutenant in 1803,
Captain in 1809, Major in 1821, Lt.-Colonel in 1837,
Colonel in 1851, and Major-General in 1855. He
served in the Peninsular War, and was wounded in
the leg at Vittoria. He came to St. Helena in 1818,
and on September 5th was appointed Orderly
Officer at Longwood. He resigned this position on
February 9th, 1820, having been in residence
seventeen months. While at Longwood, Nicholls
compiled a journal, a copy of which is in the
“ Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,210. This journal, which
describes the difficulties encountered by Nicholls
in obtaining ocular evidence of the presence of
Napoleon, exhibits much unintentional humour,
A strong point has always been made of the methods
of strict seclusion adopted by Napoleon to defeat
the regulations of Lowe. On investigation, how-
ever, it is found that, of the 421 days that Napoleon
was said to be in seclusion, Captain Nicholls was
assured of his presence on 68 per cent of those days,
and the longest period of seclusion was 11 days.
Nicholls died at 18 Rodney Terrace, Cheltenham,
in 1857,

Nicow, Colonel Charles, c.e. In ecommand of the 66th
Regiment in St. Helena.

Nicol arrived in St. Helena with his battalion in
1817, and remained until the early part of 1818,
when he left for England. He returned, however,
in 1820,

Nicol entered the Army in 1795 as Ensign, and
during the same year was advanced to the rank of
Captain. He attained his majority in 1806, and
became Lt.-Colonel in 1811. He commanded his
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O'MEARA, Barry Edward (1782-1886). Medical Atten-
dant to Napoleon in St. Helena, until July 25th,
1818.

O’Meara was a native of County Cork, and began
his medical career as Assistant Surgeon to the 62nd
Regiment. But this position he was compelled to
resign, because he had contravened the regulations
in force by acting as second in a duel. He then
joined the Navy and became Surgeon to the
*“ Goliath ™ and the * Bellerophon.” He was on
this latter ship when Napoleon came on board, and
after Maingaud had refused to accompany the
Emperor to St. Helena, O’'Meara was offered the
post. He accepted, and remained in attendance
until July 25th, 1818, when Lowe caused him to
be removed from Longwood. He left St. Helena
on August 2nd, 1818, and soon after his arrival in
England was dismissed the service. O'Meara
published his * Exposition ™ in 1819, in reply to
Theodore Hook’s ** Facts Illustrative,” and in 1822
the famous * Voice" appeared. Besides these,
O'Meara was the author of a series of Letters to
John Finlaison, the Keeper of the Records at the
Admiralty, and these can be found in the * Lowe
Papers.”

O'Meara qualified as a Member of the Royal
College of Surgeons in 1825, and lived at 16 Cam-
bridge Terrace, where he died on June 10th, 1836,
In his will, which is at Somerset House, he directs
that the following sentences shall be placed on his
tomb : * I take this opportunity of declaring that
with the exception of some unintentional and trifling
errors in the * Voice from St. Helena,’ the book is
a faithful narrative of the treatment inflicted upon
that great man Napoleon by Sir Hudson Lowe and
his subordinates, and that I have even suppressed
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plete account of Piontkowski, see Mr. Watson's
valuable book, *“ A Polish Exile with Napoleon.”

Pramrin, Rear-Admiral Robert J. (1762-1884). Com-
mander-in-Chief of the St. Helena and Cape of
Good Hope Naval Stations from July, 1817, to
July, 1820.

Plampin, who was born at Chadacre Hall in
Suffolk, entered the Navy in 1775, on board the
“Renown,” and served chiefly in North America
until 1776. He then lived for thirteen months in
France, in order to acquire proficiency in the
language, and several months in Holland for the
same purpose. In 1793 he was selected, on account
of his knowledge of Dutch and his familiarity with
the country, to accompany the Forces, and served in
the gunboats off Wilhelmstad, which was then being
besieged by Dumouriez.

His knowledge of French stood him in good
stead, for in September, 1793, he was appointed
Aide-de-Camp to Admiral Goodall, the Governor of
Toulon, and afterwards filled the same post under
Lord Hood, until the end of the siege of that town.

Plampin was appointed Commander of the
* Albion,” sloop, in 1784, and attained post rank
in the following year. In 1801, while in command
of the ** Lowestoft,” he was cast away on the Great
Heneaga, while attempting the windward passage.
He next assisted in the attack on Boulogne, and
helped Fulton to prepare his ““ locks " designed to
explode under the water. In 1805 he assumed the
commands of the ** Antelope,” 50 guns, and the
*“ Powerful,” 74 guns, but was disappointed in
arriving in the latter ship at Trafalgar just too late
for the battle. After this Plampin sailed to the
East, and greatly distinguished himself by the cap-
ture of the * Henriette” and the famous fast
sailing-ship, ** La Bellone,” off the coast of India.
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on April 14th, 1816. Throughout the captivity
Sir Thomas was actively engaged with the official
matters connected with that episode. He was a
whole-hearted supporter of the Government policy,
and performed his duties with marked zeal and
energy. Indeed, it would appear that he was more
pronounced than Lowe himself in the interpretation
of the duties concerning the safe custody of Napo-
leon, for in the * Lowe Papers,” vol. 20,207, a
large number of Reade’s letters can be found, and
from the attitude exhibited by them, it is reason-
able to infer that he often thought Lowe too
lenient in his administration.

Reade was present at the post-mortem examina-
tion, and has left a minute and valuable account of
what took place on that oceasion (** Lowe Papers,”
vol. 20,138). He left St. Helena on July 12th, 1821,
and on his return to England lived for some years
on his estate at Congleton in Cheshire. He re-
tained his connection with the Army, and ex-
changed into the 24th Foot as Captain, in 1824 ;
but on May 10th, 1836, he was appointed Consul-
General in Tunis, and there he remained until his
death in 1849. Reade saw Napoleon on three
occasions, viz. on April 17th, May 27th, and Octo-
ber 4th, 1816,

RearDON, Rodolphus Hobbs (1790-1847). Lieutenant
in the 66th Regiment.

Reardon was born in Tipperary Town, and
entered the Army in the 8rd West India Regiment,
IF:'ut afterwards became a Volunteer with the 71st

oot.

On August 3rd, 1808, he landed in Portugal, and
after the Battle of Vimiera was promoted Ensign
to :‘hhe 82nd Foot. He carried the colours of this
regiment at Corunna, and on account of his conduct
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RickerTs, Charles Milner. A kinsman of Lord Liver-
pool, and a member of the Supreme Council at
Caleutta,

Ricketts entered the East India Company's
service in 1791, and became chief secretary to the
Governor in 1815. In 1817 he obtained a seat
on the Supreme Council and, on his way home,
on leave, had a long interview with Napoleon on
April 2nd, 1819. At this interview Napoleon pre-
sented him with a paper containing reasons why
Lord Liverpool should permit him to leave St.
Helena. Ricketts was the last person to be granted
an interview by Napoleon.

Rominson, Miss. Known to Longwood as * The
Nymph.” She was the daughter of a small farmer
who lived on the further side of Prosperous Valley,
and was noticed by Napoleon in the course of his
rides. She came to Longwood on two or three
occasions, and on July 26th, 1817, she brought her
newly-married husband to bid adieu to Napoleon.
The husband’s name was Edwards, and he may
have been the Captain of the * Dora,”” the ship
in which Mrs. Edwards sailed for England on
July 29th.

Rossox, Rev. Thomas. The author of * St. Helena
Memoirs,” 1827, in which he gives an account of
the conversion of Robert Grant. Robson spent
some time in St. Helena after the captivity.

Ross, Captain Charles Bayne Hodgson, c.s. (1778-1849).
In command of the * Northumberland."

Captain Ross was the son of Lieutenant Ross,

R.N., and joined the Navy in 1788 as *“ captain’s

servant "’ on board the * Echo.” He became a

Lieutenant in 1796, and Commander in 1800, being

appointed to the “ Diligence,” in which vessel he
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Mr. Shorter also, in his * Napoleon and his Fellow
Travellers,” has published an interesting letter
from Captain Ross to a friend, but there is no trace
of any other documents. For fuller particulars
of the career of Captain Ross, reference may be
made to O'Byrne’s ** Naval Biographies,” Mar-
shall's “ Royal Naval Biography,” Vol. I1I, pt. 11,
p. 785, and the *“ United Service Magazine,” 1849,

Rous, Captain the Hon. Henry John (1795-1877).

Rous came out to St. Helena in the ** Con-
queror,” and served in that ship until August, 1817,
when he was appointed to the ** Podargus,”” He
retained this command until January, 1818, but
was then transferred to the ** Mosquito,” and in
July, 1819, he left St. Helena. Rous, who in
after-life became such a power on the Turf, had
much to do with the institution of the Races at
Deadwood, and the part he played is deseribed in
Basil Jackson's “ Reminiscences of a Staff Officer.”

Rousseau, Theodore. The Lampiste, and worker at odd
jobs at Longwood. He was deported on October
19th, 1816, and arrived at Spithead on February
15th, 1817. After this he retired to the United
States, and took service with Joseph.

RurtLEDGE, George Henry, M.r.c.5. (1789-1888). Assis-
tant Surgeon to the 20th Foot Regiment.
Rutledge entered the Army in 1809 as Hospital
Mate, and in 1815 was appointed Assistant Surgeon
to the 20th Foot. He came to St. Helena in 1819,
and was present at the autopsy of Napoleon. He was
appointed by Sir Thomas Reade to watch over the
body until it had been securely closed up in the coffin,
and has left a memorandum of the way in which he
performed his task., (See Forsyth, Vol. III, p. 291.)
In addition, Rutledge has also left a criticism of
* Les Derniers Moments de Napoléon,” by Antom-
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SeALE, Major R. F. Assistant Storekeeper in St. Helena.
Seale published, in 1834, *“ The Geognosy of St.
Helena,” and also made a model of the Island,
which was accepted by Addiscombe College, and
there exhibited. It is said that Seale received
£1000 for this work.

Suortt, Thomas, M.p. (1788-1848). Principal Medical
Officer in St. Helena.

Shortt joined the Army in 1806 as Assistant
Surgeon to the 10th Foot, and in 1818 became
Surgeon to the 20th Light Dragoons. In 1814 he
was Acting Staff Surgeon, and in 1819 he received
the appointment of Physician Extraordinary to the
King in Scotland. He served most of his time in the
Army in Italy, Sicily, and Egypt. He arrived in
St. Helena in December, 1820, and assumed chief
medical control of the Island. Shortt did not see
Napoleon professionally, but was consulted con-
cerning his illness. He attended the post-mortem
examination, and drew up the official report, the
original draft of which is in the possession of the
Shortt family. Shortt left St. Helena on Septem-
ber 20th, 1821. (See “ Thomas Shortt,” Chaplin,
1914.)

SKELTON, John (1763-1841). Lt.-Colonel in the Indian
Army, and Lt.-Governor of St. Helena from 1818
to 1816.

Skelton joined the 8th Native Infantry Regiment
in the Bombay Presidency in 1780, and became
Lt.-Colonel in 1807. In 1818 he was appointed
Lt.-Governor of St. Helena, and came to the Island
with Wilks in the same year. He lived at Long-
wood until the arrival of Napoleon, and when the
Emperor was installed there, Skelton and his wife
were frequent visitors. The Skeltons were much
liked by Napoleon, and were on terms of friendship
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with him until they left the Island on May 14th,
1816 ; but Lowe suspected them of having assisted
the people at Longwood in the transmission of
clandestine correspondence.

In 1817 Skelton became a Colonel, in 1821 a
Major-General, and in 1887 a Lt.-General.

SowerBy. The gardener of Longwood, and often men-

tioned in Nicholls' Journal as being instrumental
in obtaining a view of Napoleon.

STANFELL, Captain Francis, =.N. In command of the

S,

* Phaeton ” and the * Conqueror.”

Stanfell was appointed Lieutenant in 1795,
Commander in 1808, and Captain in 1810. He saw
much service in the West Indies, the Channel, and
North America, and while thus engaged, captured
* La Glaneuse " and ** Le Glaneur "’ in the Channel,
and ““ I'Oreste " off Guadaloupe.

Stanfell brought out Sir Hudson Lowe and his
staff in the ** Phaeton,” and after the retirement
of Captain Davie, was given the command of the
“ Conqueror.” He was a strong supporter of the
policy of Sir Hudson Lowe, and was very popular
with his men. On March 25th, 1817, Stanfell was
presented to Napoleon. He died in 1831.

Denis, Louis Etienne (1788-1856). The second
valet at Longwood, and “ Garde des livres.” He
married Mary Hall, the governess, or nursemaid,
to the children of the Countess Bertrand, and was
at Longwood throughout the captivity. He re-
turned in 1840 for the exhumation.

StokoE, John (1775-1852). Surgeon to the * Con-

queror.”’

Stokoe was summoned to attend Napoleon on
January 17th, 1819, and between that date and
January 21st he paid the Emperor five visits. But
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in doing so he had incurred the displeasure of Lowe,
and after going home on leave, he was ordered to
return to St, Helena. He arrived on August 21st,
and on the 80th was placed on his trial before a
court-martial, which sentenced him to be dismissed
the Navy. It is difficult to understand why Stokoe
was treated so harshly, unless partisanship on the
part of his judges is admitted. For a full account
of Stokoe, see “ Napoléon Prisonnier,” by M.
Paul Frémeaux,

STurRMER, Barthelemy, Baron de (1787-1858). The
Austrian Commissioner in St. Helena.

He arrived in the * Orontes’ on June 18th,
1816, with his wife and the Botanist, Philippe
Welle. He left, or was removed, on July 8rd, 1818,
and afterwards held appointments in Rio, London,
Lisbon, and Paris.

T

Tavror. The under-gardener at Longwood, and often
instrumental in enabling Captain Nicholls to say
that Napoleon had been seen.

TorseTT, Richard. A merchant and shopkeeper in
St. Helena during the captivity.

He lived very close to Longwood, on a property
which contained Geranium Valley, and it was in
this ground, belonging to Torbett, that Napoleon
was buried. The Council of St. Helena granted
him an indemnity of £850, and an annual subsidy
of £50, so long as the body of the Emperor should
remain in the tomb, Eventually this arrangement
was commuted for a capital sum of £1200.

Torbett was dead when the exhumation took
place in 1840, but his widow derived some pecuniary
advantage from visitors to the tomb.,
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to Napoleon should his services be required. But
the Emperor refused to receive any doctor ap-
pointed by Sir Hudson Lowe, and Verling
continued to reside at Longwood with Ilittle
occupation until September 20th, 1819, when he was
relieved by the arrival of Antommarchi. He left
the Island on April 25th, 1820, and carried with him
the regard of both Sir Hudson Lowe and the French
followers of Napoleon.

Subsequently Verling rose to high positions in
the Army, and in 1850 was appointed Deputy
Inspector-General of the Ordnance Medical Depart-
ment. He retired in 1854, and died at Queenstown
in 1858, in his seventy-first year.

While at Longwood, Verling compiled a most
interesting journal, which is now in the ** Archives
Nationales " in Paris.

VerNoN, the Reverend Bowater James. Chaplain in
St. Helena during the whole of the captivity,

He was born in 1789 in Jamaica, where his father,
Captain Bowater Vernon, was A.D.C. to the Gover-
nor. Mr. Vernon officiated at the church in James-
town, and was able to keep aloof from the squabbles
in which his senior, the Rev. Mr. Boys, was engaged.
At Napoleon's funeral he attended officially, but
Vignali objected to his walking beside him in the
procession. Mr. Vernon published a little book of
reminiscences, in which he deals with the events
in St. Helena, and gives general support to the
policy of Lowe. His son was the well-known
ophthalmic surgeon.

Vienawi, the Abbé Ange. A Corsican, selected by
Cardinal Fesch to administer spiritual consolation
to Napoleon. He was low-born, very ignorant,
and, it is said, quite illiterate,

He arrived in St. Helena on September 20th,
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Warp, Ensign John. Of the 66th Regiment.

Ensign (Ward joined his regiment in St. Helena
towards the end of the captivity. He made a
sketch of Napoleon during life, and one after death,
when dressed in uniform. He also executed a
medallion in plaster of the head of the Emperor on
his death-bed, and assisted Burton (so it was said)
to take the death-mask.

Ward eventually joined the 91st Regiment, and
was present at the exhumation in 1840. He there-
fore occupies the unique position of being the only
British officer, with the exception of Hodson, who
attended the funeral in 1821 and the exhumation in
1840,

Mrs, Ward has given an account of the part
played by her husband at the death of Napoleon,
in a pamphlet, now in the possession of Alfred
Brewis, Esq. This pamphlet is also published in
Lady Burton’s life of her husband. Ward died in
1878.

Warpen, William (1777-1849). Surgeon on board the
H.M.S. * Northumberland.”

While on the passage to St. Helena, and until the
departure of the ** Northumberland” from that
Island on June 19th, 1816, Warden had many
opportunities of seeing Napoleon, and in St. Helena
especially he was a frequent visitor to Longwood.
The result of these visits was the famous * Letters ™
published in 1816, which speedily ran through many
editions. A reply to these under the title of
* Letters from the Cape,” which is generally attri-
buted to Las Cases, was published in 1817. Fora
full account of Warden, and for a republication of
his * Letters,” see the interesting book, * Napoleon
and his Fellow Travellers,”” by Mr. Shorter (Cassell,
1908).






JAMES VERLING, M D









114 A ST. HELENA WHO'S WHO

attacks on Ischia and Procida, and it was at these
operations that he became known to Sir Hudson
Lowe. 1In after-life Colonel Wynyard became
Aide-de-Camp to William IV, and Colonel of the
58th Regiment. He was created C.B. in 1840.

Y

YouncraUusBaND, Captain Robert (1785-1858). 58rd
Regiment.

He entered the Army in 1801 as Cornet in the
17th Dragoons, and became Lieutenant in 1803,
On the reduction of this regiment, Younghusband
went on half-pay with a promise from Colonel
Gordon, the Military Secretary of the Duke of York,
that he should return to his regiment if opportunity
offered.

On November 24th, 1803, Younghusband joined
the 538rd Foot, as Lieutenant, and became Captain
in 1811. He proceeded with this regiment to
India, and married on June 8th, 1811, in Calcutta,
Catherine Robertson (formerly Miss Whinyates),
the widow of Captain Robertson, of the Bengal
Artillery. Younghusband came out to St. Helena
with the regiment, and during the absence of Major
Fehrzen at the Cape, was placed in command. On
April 20th, and again on June 18th, 1816, he was
received by Napoleon. On the reduction of the
58rd, he was placed on half-pay on December 24th,
1817, with the rank of Major, and spent the re-
mainder of his life at Middleton Hall, Belford, and
Clive Cottage, Alnwick.

Mrs. Younghusband was a source of great trouble
to her husband while in St. Helena. On December
7th, 1816, Gourgaud states in his journal that the
Captain had suffered many misfortunes on account of
his wife. “ Almost a duel with Captain Harrison ; a
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EFFECT OF THE CLIMATE 185

RESIDENTS IN THE REST OF THE ISLAND
Years lived

next
Neme bl Npecbtimo Amu shoreoriie

¥ in 1816
R I SO 46 22 T4 6
TR . v 81 82 64 1
GORBREQUER ..... 38 27 64 -1
EMMETT ..coonss 20 84 85 22
YVEREENO <uvooss 29 33 71 9
NICHOLIS o . vcss. 42 25 81 14
WYNYARD o0 36 29 85 20
TEEREE % ¢ vis.0'5. 56 » 26 35 69 8
WoRTHAM ...... 22 40 88 26
BAEPER ooss0000 39 27 64 -2
B ks and e 381 a2 82 19
BINGHAM ....... 38 27 56 -0
PLAMPIN ....c00 54 17 72 1

THE MORTALITY AMONGST THE TROOFS DURING THE

CAPTIVITY

Average strength of all regiments .... 1056
Deaths during the captivity .......... 256
Deaths DET QODUIR: . v.cvevassnssosnsns 42
Death-rate per annum ..... .40 per thousand

(See “ The Fatal Illness of Napoleon,” Chaplin.
* History of Medicine Section,” Seventeenth Inter-
national Congress of Medicine, 1918.)

In connection with longevity in St. Helena it is in-
teresting to note that Forsyth, writing in 1853, in the
Preface to his ** History of the Captivity of Napoleon "
says that Colonel Basil Jackson was almost the only one
left of those who were engaged in the duty of guarding
the Emperor. The following list will, however, show how
far from the truth this statement was.
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but also, what were the general feelings of the young
St. Helena Christians towards their then royal prisoner.
Mr. W—d thus writes : * M—h and I used to carry poor
Gr—t about in a tonjon ; but we, his hamauls, were as
happy in the employment as himself ; and we would
often compare him, his situation, state of soul, and
eternal blessings and privileges, riding thus in his
humble chair and pole, with the situation, state, honors,
and attendants of the great and wonderful man, Buona-
parte, who lived but about a gunshot from us, on the
other side of the valley ; and who also was in the habit
of riding out in the wood behind his house at Longwood,
attended by his suite in full dress, whom we could
plainly see from my piquet. We would often ask
Gr—t, whose condition was the most desirable, his
or the great man’s? Poor Gr—t would smile, and
pity this extraordinary man ; but would agree with his
bearers, that his own situation, though on the point of
bidding farewell to this world for ever, was far prefer-
able to that of Buonaparte, at any time of his splendid
- histary ; and that he would not exchange with any
mere worldly potentate that ever existed.

‘“ But, at all our prayer meetings, we never omitted
to pray for our exalted neighbour, pouring out our
supplications abundantly and fervently in his behalf,
that God would mitigate his severe bodily sufferings
during his long illness, and sanctify them to his im-
mortal soul's conversion and salvation.

““He was frequently the subject of our conversation,
and we would say, ‘O, if it pleased God to convert him,
and make him a Christian, what a triumphant monu-
ment of grace would he be!’ Although, if he were led
to true repentance, the world would say, he had turned
coward ; or that it was his guilty conscience smiting
him for the dreadful erimes laid to his charge ; and that
it was natural enough so great a sinner should repent.
We know that in this way the self-righteous world would
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talk, if ever he should be brought to evangelical repent-
ance unto life ; but still we continued to pray earnestly
for him, and he was most truly an object of pity, com-
passion, and Christian benevolence. We were desirous
to hear, if possible, anything relative to his spiritual or
religious ideas and views ; but never could obtain any
satisfactory information till after his death, when we
heard from some of his suite, that latterly he was in the
constant habit of praying with the priest, but particu-
larly was often heard (when he knew not that any one
was present in the room) to pray earnestly to God,
through Jesus Christ, for his salvation ; but we could
know no more than this. Every one said that he was
not at all alarmed at death, as Dr. A—— also knows :
to whom he would talk of his approaching end with
philosophical ealmness. But all this calmness and un-
concern was merely of a natural growth ; arising partly
from his ignorance of the consequences of death, and
also from the persuasion that he had not only not been
guilty of the flagrant erimes imputed to him by his
enemies, but that he had abused his power less, in what
the world calls erime, than any other monarch ; and
he used to appeal to history to vindicate his assertion.
Nevertheless, although this might be true, such style of
reasoning and calmness of philosophy (falsely so called)
was a proof that then he had no gracious visitations,
whatever he might have had on his dying bed ; when
he was seen and heard to pray to God through Jesus
Christ. We always heard that he believed in the serip-
tures as the nominal Christian may, and often does, to
his own condemnation. He always spoke of them with
respect and reverence, and often read them, particu-
larly latterly. In the time of Dr. O'Meara he used to
peruse them frequently, both for pleasure and informa-
tion ; but then, chiefly the historical parts, especially
the accounts of Joshua, David, ete., and their battles ;
and ever valued the Bible as the oldest history extant,



























